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Analysis 

Statement of Purpose: "To enact a Georgia State Law to regulate the sale and possession 
of all handguns in the state of Georgia." 

This Act shall not be construed nor applied to promote any purposes or policies that 
infringe upon the citizens right to bear arms or the right to purchase or possess a 
handgun in the State of Georgia. The act does require that minimum qualifications 
be met by all handgun owners and purchasers prior to purchase to insure the public's 
safety and directs the proper state of Georgia authorities to be accountable and 
responsible for seeing to it that all handgun owners meet these minimum qualifications. 

Under current Georgia law the state requires only that the handgun owner be 21 years 
of age. This Act realizes that this current Georgia law is totally inadequate to the 
times, and does not provide the people of Georgia with the protective measures necessary 
to enhance the public's safety. 

This Act realizes also that the,_.determi~ation .nf whether or not a prospect;~ve handgun 
purchaser is 21 years of age, a convicted felon> under criminal indictment, mentally 
competent, a murderer or armed robber ought not be left up to the handgun seller (who 
wants to make the sale). Rather, this responsibility should rest with the Georgia 
Department of Public Safety whose primary function is not selling firearms but 
providing for the safety of our Georgia people. 

Major Provisions of the Act 

1. All handgun owners and purchasers possess a handgun owner's license. 

2. All handgun owners meet minimum qualifications: (a) age 21, (b) not committed 
a felony or under indictment for a__.f~lony or forcible misdemeanor, (c) not be 
judged mentally incompetent by court order. 

3. All handguns be registered within the county of purchase prior to purchase. 
(Those handguns already possessed, must be registered within one year of the 
effective date of this act). 

THE 1975 GEORGIA HANDGUN REGULATIONS ACT 

4 . The purchase of a handgun be preceded by a waiting period. 

5. Provides penalties for violations of the Act. 

6. The importation, manufacture, assembly, sale, possession and use of all sub-
standard handguns and component parts are prohibited (Saturday Night Specials 
are outlawed. ) . 

7. Establishes a Handgun Regulations Advisory Committee (membership to include 
representatives from NRA and Georgia Wildlife Federation along with represent-
atives of law enforcement and public citizens. 

8. Authorizes the Georgia Department of Public Safety to administer the law. 

9. Exempts law enforcement officials and the military personnel. 

10. Provides for the voluntary surrender and reimbursement of certain handguns. 

11. Provides that local governments may enact laws, ordinances or regulations to 
regulate handguns in compliance with this Act. 
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H. B. No. 249 
By: Messrs. Scott of the 37th, Brown of the 34th, 
Holmes of the 39th, Mrs. Richardson of the 52nd, Mr. Dean 
of the 29th, Mrs. Glover of the 32nd, Messrs. Egan of the 25th, 
Ho,rton of the 43rd, White of the 132nd and Lucas of the 102nd 

A BILL TO BE ENTITLED 

AN ACT 

To regulate handguns; to provide f or a short title; 

to state the purpose and intent of this Act; to define 

certain terms; to provide that it sha ll be unlawful to 

possess or control certain handguns without a license and 

without registering the handgun; to provide that it shall be 

unlawful to sell or otherwise transfer certain handguns to 

persons who do not possess a license and who do not comply 

with certain registration requirements; to provide that it 

9 shall be unlawful to sell or otherwise transfer certain 
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handguns without notifying the Administrator of this Act of 

such transfer; to provide that it shall be unlawful to 

pos sess or control any substandard handgun; to provide that 

it shall be unlawful to manufacture, assembly, import, 

transport, sell, or otherwise transfer any substandard 

handgun; to provide that it shall be unlawful to give false 

or misleading information for the purpose of acquiring a 

license or registration permit; to provide penalties for 

violations of this Act; to provide for exemptions from the 

operation of this Act; to name an Administrator; to provide 

20 for the interpretation of this Act by authorizing the 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

?. 7 

Administrator to adopt and promulgate substantive rules; to 

provide that the Administrator shall issue standard or 

collector 's licenses to possess handguns; to provide tha t 

the Administrator shall not issue licenses to certain 

persons; to provide for registration of handguns currently 

possessed or to be purchased; to provide that registration 

permits shall not be issued to certain persons; to provide 

8 that persons selling or otherwise transferring handguns 

29 shall notify the Administrator of such transactions; to 
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provide that handguns sold within this State must meet 

certain minimum requirements; to provide for the voluntary 

sur r ender and reimbursement of certain handguns; to provide 

for the condemnation of certain handguns; to provide that 

local governments may enact laws, ordinances or regulations 

to regu late handguns in compliance with this Act; to provide 

for severability; to repeal conflicting laws; to provide for 

8 an effective date; and for other purposes. 
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BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF GEORGIA: 

Section 1. Short Title, Purpose and Intent. 

(a) This Act shall be known and may be cited as 

"The Handgun Regulation Act of 1975", 

(b) The purpose of this Act shall be the 

regulation of handguns in order to protect the people of 

Georgia from their misuse. It is the intent of the General 

Assembly that handguns be regulated for the safety of the 

people of Georgia and this Act shall be liberally construed 

and applied to promote its underlying purposes and policies. 

Section 2 , Definitions , 

As used in this Act: 

(a) "Administrator" shall mean the Administrator 

as defined in Section 5(a) of this Act or his delegate , 

"Ant ique Firearms" means: (b) 

------,e:1:, :lmy firearm, including a firearm with a 

match lock, flintlock, percussion cap, or similar type 

ignition system, manufactured on or before 1898; 

(2) Any replica of any firearm described in 

subparagraph (1) if such replica: 

(A) Is not designed or redesigned for using 

rimfire or 

ammunition; or 

conventional 
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(B) Uses rimfire or conventional certerfire 

fixed ammunition which i s no longer manufactured in 

the United States and which is not readily 

available in the ordinary channels of commercial 

trade. 

(c) "Collector" means any person who acquires, 

holds or disposes of firearms or ammunition as curios or 

relics or any such person who is licensed as a collector by 

the Secretary of the Treasury of the United States pursuant 

to the provisions of Title I of the Gun Control Act of 1968, 

11 18 u. s . c , , Chapter 44, as amended . 

'--...,,-
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(d) "Component" of a handgun means a barrel, 

trigger, hammer, grip, cylinder, magazine or their 

functional equivalent, or any other part from which a 

15 handgun may be fabricated . 
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(e) "Curio or Relics" means any firearm which is 

of a special interest to collectors by reason of some 

quality other than is ordinarily associated with firearms 

intended for sporting use or as offensive or defensive 

weapons and which have been designated as such by the 

Secretary of the Treasury of the United States pursuant to 

Title I of the Gun Control Act of 1968, 18 U. S . C., Chapter 

23 44, as amended . 
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(f) "Dealer" means any person engaged in the 

business of selling firearms at the wholesale or retail 

level; any person engaged in the business of repairing 

firearms or of making, or fitting special barrels, stocks or 

trigger mechanisms to firearms; or any person who is a 

29 pawnbroker . 

30 

31 

:n 

34 

(g) "Handgun" means any firearm , pistol or 

revolver which is designed or redesigned, made or remade, to 

be aimed and fired by the use of a single hand and which is 

designed to fire or capable of firing fixed cartridge 

ammunition; the frame and receiver of any such firearm; but 
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the term shall not include any "antique firearm". 

(h) "Importer" means any person engaged in the 

business of importing or bringing firearms into the United 

States for purposes of sale and distr i bution and who is 

licensed as such by the Secretary of the Treasury of the 

United State~ pursuant to the provisions o f the Gun Control 

Act of 1968, 18 u.s.c., Chapter 44, as ame nded, and Title 

8 VII of the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 

9 1968, as amended by Title III of the Gun Contro l Act of 

10 1968. 
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(i) "Manufacturer" means any person engaged in the 

manufacture of firearms for purposes of sale or distribution 

and who is licensed as such by the . Secretary of the Treasury 

of the United States pursuant to the provisions of the Gun 

Control Act of 1968, 18 u.s.c., Chapter 44 , as amended, and 

Title VII of the Omnibus Crime Control Act of 1968, as 

17 amended by Title III of the Gun Control Act of 1968. 
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( j) "Person" means any individual, corporation, 

company, association, firm, partnership, club, society, 

organization or joint stock company. 

(k) "Substandard Handgun" means any handgun which 

fails to meet the requirements of Section 9 of this Act 

which has been designated as such by the Administrator, but 

the term shall not include any antique firearm or a curio or 

25 relic as defined in this Act. 
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(1) " Unserviceable Firearm" means a firearm which 

is incapable of discharging a shot by means of an explosive 

and incapable of being readily restored to a firing 

29 c o ndition. 
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Section 3. Violations. 

It shall b e unlawful for any person to knowingly: 

(a) Possess or have in his control a handgun or 

the components thereof without a valid license issued under 
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the provisions of this Act. The conviction for the first 

offense of this subsection shall be punished as for a 

misdemeanor; provided, however, that as an alternative to 

the penalties prescribed for a misdemeanor, the court in its 

discretion, may suspend any portion of the sentence 

conditioned upon the defendant's successful acquisition of a 

license and registration. A conviction for the second 

offense of this subsection shall be a misdemeanor punishable 

by up to twelve (12) months' imprisonment and payment of a 

fine not to exceed $5,000.00. A conviction for the third 

offense of this subsect ion shall be a felony punishable by 

imprisonment from one to two years and payment of a fine up 

13 to $10,000.00. 
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(b) Possess or have in his control a handgun 

without registering the handgun under the provisions of this 

Act. The conviction for the first offense of this 

subsection shall be punished as for a misdemeanor; provided, 

however, that as an alternative to the penalties prescribed 

for a misdemeanor, the court in its discretion, may sus pend 

any portion of the sentence conditioned upon the defendant's 

successful acquisition of a license and registration. A 

conviction for the second offense of this subsection be a 

misdemeanor punishable by up to twelve (12) months' 

imprisonment and payment of a fine not to exceed $5,000.00. 

A conviction for the third offense of this subsection shall 

be a felony punishable by imprisonment from one to two years 

and payment of a fine up to $10,000.00. 

(c) Sell, exchange, transfer, give or in any way 

cause a handgun or the components thereof to come into ·the 

possession o f a person who does not possess a valid license 

and registration permit issued under the provisions of this 

Act. A conviction for the violation of this subsection 

shall be a felony punishable by imprisonment for one to five 

years and payment of a fine up to $10,000.00. 
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(d) Sell, exchange, transfer, give or in any way 

cause a handgun or the components thereof to come into the 

possession of a person without notifying the Administrator 

as provided in Section 8 of this Act. A conviction for the 

violation of this subsection shall be punished as for a 

6 misdemeanor . 
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(e) Possess or have in his control a substandard 

handgun as proscribed in Section 9 of this Act, commonly 

referred to as a "Saturday Night Special" . A conviction for 

the first offense of this subsection shall be a misdemeanor 

punishable by imprisonment up to twelve (12) months and 

payment of a fine up to $5,000.00, A conviction for the 

second and subsequent offenses of this subsection shall be a 

felony punishable by impr i sonment for one to two years and 

15 payment of a fine up to $5,000 . 00. 
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(f) Manufacture, assemble, import , transport, 

sell, exchange or in any other way transfer a substandard 

handgun or its components, commonly known as a "Saturday 

Night Special" . A conviciton for the violation of this 

subsection shal l be a felony punishable by imprisonment for 

one to five years and payment of a fine up t o $10,000,00 , 

(g) For the purpose of acquiring a handgun license 

or registration permit provide false, or misleading 

information, or fail to provide any material information 

needed to make the information given not misleading . A 

conviction for the violation of this subsection shall be a 

felony and punishable by i mprisonment for one to five years 

28 and payment of a fine up to $5,000.00, 
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(h) For the purpose of acquiring a handgun or 

registration permit produce a false license or registration 

permit o r j mpersonate a person to whom a handgun license or 

registration permit has been granted , A conviction for the 

violation of this s ubsection shall be a felony and 

punishable by imprisonment for one to five years and payment 
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of a fine up to $5,000 . 00. 

Section 4. Exemptions. 

(a) The provisions of this Act shall not apply to 

or affect any of the follow ing persons whi le engaged in 

pursuit of of f icial duty or any person when authorized by 

6 Federal or State law, regulations or order: 
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(1) Peace office r s; 

(2) Wardens, superintendents, a nd keepers of 

prisons, penitentiaries, jails o r other institutions for 

the detention of person s accused or convicted of an 

offense; 

(3) Persons in the active mil itar y service of the 

United States or of the State of Georgia; 

(4) Persons employed in fulfil ling defense 

contracts with the Government of the United States or 

agencies thereof when possession of the weapon is 

necessary for manufacture, transport , instal lation, and 

testing the requirements of such contract ; and 

( 5) District Attorneys, investigators employe d by 

and assigned to a District Attorney ' s office, and 

Assistant District Attorneys. 

(b) The provisions of this Act shall not app l y to 

or affect antique firearms or curios or relics, nor 

l4 unserviceable handguns. 
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(c) The provisions of this Act shall not apply to 

or affec t sales by manufacturers , importers or de alers to a 

bonafide who lesaler or to a bonafide retailer or sales by a 

bonafide wholesaler or retailer to a bonafide retailer, 

provided these sales are otherwise in compliance with State 

30 and Federal law. 

31 (d) The provisions of this Act shall not apply t o 

3.' or affect any person whi le such person is transporting 

33 through the State from one location outside of the State to 
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another location outside of the State a handgun which is: 

(1) Unloaded; 

(2) Broken down or disassembled in 

nonfunctioning state; and 

a 

(3) Crated, packaged, packed or otherwise not 

immediately accessible to the person. 

( e) A prosecution based upon a violation of th is 

Act need not negative any exemptions, but rather the burden 

of proving such exemptions shall be upon the defendant. 

Section 5, Administrator . 

(a) The Administrator shall be the Commissioner of 

the Department of Public Safety. 

(b) The Administrator is hereby authorized to 

adopt substantive rules and regulations that prohibit 

spec ific acts or practices in violation of this Act. Such 

16 rules shall not confl ict with applicable Federal laws, rules 

17 

1B 

19 

20 

and regulations . Such rules shall be promulgated only when 

it is determined by the Administrator , in the r easonable 

exercise o f his discretion, on the basis of his expertise , 

and facts, submissions, evidence, and all information before 

21 him that such rules are needed to prohibit or control acts 

22 

23 

or practices which create the probability of actual and 

substantial violations of this Act. No rule shall be 

24 promulgated where i t is reasonably certain that the burden 

25 

26 

27 

28 

of complying with said rules will unreasonably outwe igh the 

public interest in prohibiting or control ling the practice 

which would be so prohibited or controlled. No s uch rule so 

promulgated shall be arbitrary or capricious nor shall its 

29 promulgation be characterized by an abuse of discretion or 

30 

31 

32 

an unwarranted exercise of discretion. 

(cl The Georgia Administrative Procedure Act shall 

apply to the promulgation of rules and regulations by the 

33 Administrator under this Act . 
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(d) The Administrator shall be advised in the 

promulgation of al l rules and regulations by the Handgun 

Regulation Advisory Council which Council shall consist of 

4 twelve (12) members comprised as follows: 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

(1) The Director of the Georgia Bureau of 

Investigation or his delegate; 

(2) The Director of the Georgia Crime Information 

Cente r or his delegate; 

( 3) The Director of the Georgia Crime Lab or his 

10 delegate; 
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34 

( 4) A representative of the Sheriff's Association, 

designated by the Association; 

(5) A representative who is a citizen of the State 

and also a member of The National Rifle Association, 

designated by the Association; 

(6) A represen tative of the State Wildlife 

Federation; designated by the Federation; 

( 7) The Commissioner of the Department of Natur al 

Resources or his delegate; 

( 8) The Adjutant General o f the State o f Georgia 

or his delegate; 

(9) A private citizen appointed by the Governor; 

(10) A private citizen appointed by the Speaker of 

the House of Representatives; 

(11) A private citizen appointed by the Lieutenant 

Governor of the State of Georgia; 

(12) A representative of the Georgia Association o f 

Chiefs of Police, designated by the Association , 

(e) In order that the people of this State may be 

sufficiently familiar in the safe operation and proper care 

of firearms so as to reduce the number of accidents, deaths, 

injuries and property damage occasioned by the misuse of 

firearms and, so, if called upon pursuant to law they may 

meet their respons ibi lities as members of the militia of the 
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1 State, the Administrator is authorized to formulate programs 

2 of firearms safety and to assist any other agency of State 

3 and local government or privat e organization in promoting 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

the safe operation and proper care of fi rearms, 

Section 6 , Licensing Procedure, 

(a) The Administrator shal l issue or r enew 

standard or collector's licenses to pos sess handguns or 

their components accord ing to the provisions of this 

9 Section , 

10 (b) Any person desiring to obtain a standard or 

11 collector's license to possess a handgun may ·apply for such 

12 
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20 
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22 

license at those locations throughout the State where the 

Department of Public Safety issues driver's licenses. 

(c) The applicant shall furnish under oath the 

following information to the Administrator: 

(1) Full name; 

(2) Date of birth; 

(3) Place of birth; 

(4) Residence; 

(5) A statement whe ther or not: (A) He has ever 

been convicted of a felony; 

(B) He has been convicted of a forceable 

23 misdemeanor 

24 

25-

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

within the preceding two years ; 

(C) He has ever been convicted for the 

vio lation o f Geo rgia Code Annotated Sections 

26-2901, 26-2902, 26- 2903, 26-2904 or 26-2905; 

(D) He is currently under indictment; 

(E) He is currently under a court o rder 

adjudicating him mentally incompetent. 

(d) The Administrator shall obtain from the 

32 applicant: 

33 (1) A photograph; 
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(2) A physical description; and 

(3) A complete set of fingerprints. 

(e) The Administrator shall not issue or renew 

ei ther a standard or collector's l icense except for a 

person : 

(1) Who is at least twenty- one years of age; 

(2) Who has not been convicted anywhere of a 

felony; 

( 3) Who has not been convicted within the 

preceding two years of a forceab l e misdemeanor; 

(4) Who has never been convicted for a violation 

of Georgia Code Annotated Sections 26- 2901, 26- 2902, 

26-2903, 26 - 2904 or 26- 2905; 

(5) Who is not currently under a court order 

adjudicating him mentally incompetent; 

(6) Who has visual accuity correctable to 20 / 60 

vision; and who has given a bond with a commercial 

surety approved by the Administrator payable to the 

Admi nistrator in the sum of $1,000 . 00 conditioned upon 

the lawful use of all handguns. 

(f) The Administrator shall not issue or renew a 

collec tor' s handgun license except to an applicant who, in 

addition to meeting the requirements of subsection (e), is a 

collector as defined in Section 2 of this Act . 

(g) The standard license issued by the 

Administrator shall contain the applicant's name, address, 

date of birth, physical description, recent photograph and a 

28 license number . 

29 

30 

(h) The collector's license shall contain the same 

information as found in the standard license , but 

additionally shall be so marked as to indicate that it is a 

~2 collec t or's license , 

• .;, (i) All licenses issued by the Administrator shall 

expire five (5) years from the date of issuance and may be 

H. B, No . 249 
11 -

402 

404 

406 

40 7 

409 

411 

413 

414 

416 

417 

418 

420 

421 

423 

424 

425 

42 6 

428 

429 

4 30 

431 

433 

434 

435 

437 

438 

439 

441 

442· 



1 

2 

HB 249 

renewed upon application from the licensee meeting the 

requirements of an initial application. The fee for the 

3 initial application and all renewals shall be $5.00, 
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( j) The Administrator shall, after notice and 

hearing , revoke the license of any person who is convicted 

of a felony, convicted of a forceable misdemeanor, convicted 

of a violation of Georgia Coe Annotated Sections 26-2901, 

26-2902, 26-2903 , 26-2904 or 26-2905, or any of the 

provisions of this Act or the regulations promulgated 

thereunder . The revocation of a license of any person shall 

also revoke all registration permits issued to such person. 

(k) All denials of applications, denials of 

r enewals, or revocat ions shall be subject to the provisions 

of the Georgia Administrative Procedure Act. 

(1) Any person who shall cease to meet the 

requirements for the issuance of a license or whose 

license is revoked shall have sixty (60) days from the 

date on which he ceased to meet the requirements for the 

issuance of a license or the date on which the license 

was revoked to dispose of any handguns subject to this 

Act in accordance with the provisions of this Act. 

Section 7 . Registration. 

(a) To purchase or possess any handgun a person 

must obtain a registration permit in accordance with the 

25 provisions of this Section . 
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31 

32 

33 

(b) To sell , exchange, transfer, give, or in any 

way cause a handgun to come into the possession of a person, 

a person must comply with the requirements of this Section . 

(cl Any person possessing a handgun on the 

effective date of this Act shall within one (1) year of that 

effective date register such handgun or handguns with the 

judge of the probate court of the county of their residence 

in the same manner as described in subsection (d) of this 
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1 Section; provided, however, that persons licensed as 

collectors shall register their handgun or handguns as 

3 prescribed in subsection (e) . 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

(d) Any person desiring to obtain possession of a 

handgun or handguns through a purchase by sale or any other 

method of transfer shall apply to the judge of the probate 

court of the county in which the sale or other transfer is 

to take place for a registration permit, supplied to the 

9 Judge of the Probate Court by the Administrator, as follows: 

10 

11 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

'----" 3 

34 

(1) The application shall contain: 

(A) All of the information on the applicant's 

handgun license; 

(B) The name and address of the seller or 

other transfe ror; 

(c) The name o f the maker of the handgun or 

handguns to be purchased; 

(D) The caliber and serial number of the 

handgun or handguns to be purchased; 

(E) A sworn statement by the applicant that 

all the information contained in the application is 

true and that he complies with all the eligibility 

requirements to possess a handgun provided for in 

this Act; 

(F) A sworn statement by the seller or the 

transferor that all the information contained in 

the application concerning the identity of the 

handgun to be purchased is true . 

(2) The application shall be submitted to the 

judge of the probate court of the county in which the 

sale or other transfer is to take place along with a 

$5 . 00 registration fee made payable to the county. The 

judge of the probate court shall make such investigation 

as may be necessary to determine whether an applicant 

meets the requirements of this Act, and shall determine 
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from the Administrator whether the applicant's handgun 

license is va l id. 

(3) The judge of the probate court shall not i s sue 

a permit to any person who: 

(A) Does not have a handgun license issued 

pursuant to this Act , and verified by the 

Administrator at the time of application to be 

valid; 

(B) Has subsequent to the issuance of a 

handgun license been adjudicated mentally 

incompetent ; 

l C) Has subsequent to the issuance of a 

handgun license been convicted of a felony or a 

forceable misdemeanor or a violation of Georgia 

Code Annotated Sections 26- 2901, 26-2902, 26- 2903, 

26-2904 or 26- 2905; or 

(D) Has subsequent to the issuance of the 

license been indicted . 

(4) The registration permit issued by the judge of 

the probate court shall contain: 

(A) The applicant 's name ; 

(B) The applicant 's handgun license number; 

(C) The name of the maker of the handgun or 

handguns registered; 

(D) The caliber and serial number of the 

handgun or handguns registered. 

(5) The j udge of the probate court upon a 

de termination to issue the registration permit shall 

send the permit to the applicant at the address 

appearing .on his handgun license, and s hall send a copy 

of the application and the permit so issued to the 

Administrator. 

(e ) Any person l icensed as a collector under this 

Ac t sha l l within one (1) year of the effective date of this 
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Act register such collection with the judge of the probate 557 

court of the county of their residence by applying to the 
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judge of the probate court for a collector's permit, The 

collector's application shall contain the same informa tion 

contained in the application des cribed i n subsection (d) of 

this Section and shal l list each handgun possessed which is 

5 not exempt under Section 4 of this Act upon a permit 

6 

7 

8 

supplied to the judge of the probate c ourt by the 

Administrator identified as a collector's pe rmit . The judge 

of the probate court shall then follow the same procedures 

9 prescribed in subsect ion (d) of this Section . 

10 

11 

1 3 

14 

15 

(f) Any person licensed as a collector under this 

Act who purchases at sale o r by any othe r method of transfer 

handguns to be added to his collection shall register such 

additional handguns by submitting their c o llector's 

registration permit to the judge o f the probate court of the 

county of their residence along with the name o f the maker 

16 of the handguns and the serial numbers and calibers of the 

17 

18 

19 

20 

2 

23 

handguns purchased within one (1) year from the date of the 

issuance of their initial collector ' s registration permit, 

and each succeeding year thereafter . 

Section 8 , Notification of Sale to Administrator . 

Any person who sells , exchanges , tranfers, gives or 

i n any way causes a handgun or components the r eof to come 

into the possession of a person, shall within f orty-eight 

(48) hours of the transaction send, by registered mail, 

notice of the transaction to the Administrator in acco rdance 

with the rules and regulations prescribed by the 

27 Administrator for this Section . 

28 

29 

30 

Section 9 . Substandard Hand9uns , 

Every handgun intended for sale to the general 

public within this State that does not meet each of the 

following minimum requirements is declared to be a 

32 substandard handgun . 
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(al Materials, construction, and design - The 

handgun shall be free of dents, cracks, burs, scratches, 

sharp edges or other defects which may affect the 

4 functioning of the weapon . 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

(b) High Pressure Resistance - Handguns shall be 

capable of withstanding the firing of one high pressure test 

cartridge that develops a mean breach pressure of 31,000 to 

33,000 pounds per square inch . After firing the handgun 

shall be free of cracks, seams, bulges, splits, rings and 

10 other defects which would indicate a defective barrel. 

11 (cl Endurance Handguns shall be capable of 

12 passing without malfunctioning or unserviceable parts a 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

3,000 round endurance test using thirty (30) proof rounds 

and in addition to standard velocity grade cartridges . 

(d) Hammer Drop Handguns shall be capable of 

withstanding a hammer drop test from a height thirty-six 

(36l inches on to a steel plate without discharging. 

(el Marking Handguns shall be marked with the 

name of the manufacturer, importer or maker, and a serial 

number which may not be readily removed, obl~terated or 

21 altered, 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Pursuant to the provisions of this Section, the 

Administrator shall develop or otherwise provide for 

adequate testing procedures for the inspection of handguns 

manufactured within this State and intended for sale to the 

26 general public within this State, or any handgun offered for 

27 

28 

sale to the general public within this State, and publish 

annually a list of those handguns approved for sale to the 

29 general public within this State. 

30 Section 10 , Vo luntary Surrender of Hand2uns, 

31 Reimbursement, 

32 

33 

(al Any person owning or possessing a handgun may 

at any time del~ve r such handgun to the Administrator at any 
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one of the locations where a license may be obtained, or to 

any law enforcement in accordance with the 

regulations promulgated 

agency 

by the Administrator . The 

Administrator shall arrange with those local law enforcement 

agencies designated to receive handguns for the transfer , 

destruction , or other d ispostion of handguns received under 

this Section . 

(b) Upon proof of lawful acquisition and ownership 

of any handgun delivered under this Section, the person 

delivering it shall be entitled to receive from the State a 

payment equal to the fair market value of the handgun, or 

$50.00 , whichever is less . The Administrator shall arrange 

for the payment , directly or indirectly, to State or local 

law enforcement agencies , of the amounts to which owners of 

handguns deli vered under this Section are entit l e d . 

Sec t ion 11 , Condemnation of Certain Handguns . 

(a) Any handgun which is possessed in violation of 

this Act is hereby declared contraband, and any person 

possessing such handgun who does not have a valid li cense 

and registration permit on his person at the time of the 

possession of such handgun forfeits any proprietary interes t 

therein and makes such handgun subject to seizure as 

contraband . 

(b) After notice, and a hearing , by any court of 

record with criminal jurisdiction and a determination by the 

court that the handgun was possessed in violation of this 

Act , such handgun shall be condemned by the court and 

disposed of by the seizing law enforcement agency. 

Section 12 , Authority Granted to Local 

30 Governments. 

32 

The General Assembly hereby grants to every local 

government , municipal and county, authority to enact such 
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laws, ordinances, and regulations it deems pro per to 

regulate handguns in accordance with the provisions of this 

3 Act , 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

1 4 

15 

Section 13. Severability. 

In the event any section, subsection, sentence, 

clause or phrase of this Act shall be declared or adjudged 

inval id or unconstitutional, such adjudication shall in no 

manner affect the other sections, subsections, sentences, 

clauses or phrases of this Act, which shall remain of full 

force and effect, as if the section, subsection, sentence, 

clause or phrase so declared or adjudged invalid or 

unconstitutional were not originally a part thereof. The 

General Assembly hereby declares that it would have passed 

the remaining parts of this Act if it had known that such 

part or pa rts thereof would be declared or adjudged invalid 

16 or unconstitutional . 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Section 14 , General Repealer, 

All laws or parts of laws in conflict with this Act 

are hereby repealed. 

Sec tion 15. Effec tive Date. 

Th i s Act shall become effective on July 1, 1975. 
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